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MINUTES OF THE KENT COUNTY LEVY COURT 
BUSINESS MEETING 

KENT COUNTY ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLEX 
555 BAY ROAD, DOVER, DE 

LEVY COURT CHAMBER, ROOM 203 
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 26, 2017 

Call to Order 

The Combined Business meeting of the Kent County Levy Court was called to 
order at 7:00p.m. by President Banta. 

Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance 

The Invocation was led by Mr. Howell and the Pledge of Allegiance was led by 
Mr. Buckson. 

Moment of Silence for our Troops 

A moment of silence was observed for our Troops and led by Mr. Sweeney. 

Roll call and Determination of Quorum 

Allan F. Angel 
Eric L. Buckson 
James E. Hosfelt, Jr. 
Glen M. Howell 
Terry L. Pepper 
George W. Sweeney, Sr. 
P. Brooks Banta 

Commissioner 
Commissioner 
Commissioner 
Commissioner 
Vice President 
Commissioner 
President 

There are seven (7) Commissioners present at Roll Call. 

Adoption of Agenda 

Motion was made by Mr. Pepper; seconded by Mr. Angel; carried by roll call 
vote seven (7) yeas to adopt the Agenda. 
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Motion to approve Consent Agenda 17-12 made by Mr. Sweeney noting the 
importance of the lease proposal for Toys for Tots as well as the Loop Trail 
Project for Kesselring Park that will connect Kesselring Park to the new POW
MIA Parkway; seconded by Mr. Pepper; carried by roll call vote seven (7) yeas. 

PRESENTATIONS 

Employee of the Month - October 2017 

The following was read into the record by Lorri Tanaka: 

Kent County Department Heads have selected Gregory J. Mansfield from the 
Department of Administration as the October 2017 Employee of the Month. 

Greg started with Kent County in November 2015 and serves as a Computer 
Support Technician I in the Information Technology Office. His primary duties 
include troubleshooting computer hardware, software and/or network operating 
problems; responding to telephone calls to the LT. Helpdesk; installing new 
computer hardware and configuring software; and assisting County employees 
with various computer related glitches. 

Although Greg works with all departments, he is assigned to Public Safety and 
assists with the technical challenges of an around-the-clock operation, as well as 
the unique inter-agency needs of the Offices of Sheriff and Clerk of the Peace. 
Additionally, he provides backup to the Media Systems Coordinator for 
audio/visual support, streaming media and meeting recordation. 

According to Information Technology Director Kim Crouch, "Greg has an 
unmatched knowledge of personal computers which allows him to diagnose and 
fix fatal errors that often befuddle other team members. This special skill makes 
him the County's 'go to, guy' for most operating system failures. In addition, 
Greg is proactive about seeking out low cost enhancements or alternatives for 
expiring software support contracts. Kent County is so very fortunate to have such 
a talented individual on the LT. team. 

Congratulations Greg on a job well done! 

On this, the 26th day of September 2017, 
the Levy Court of Kent County, 

State of Delaware, does hereby recognize 
Gregory J. Mansfield 

Computer Support Technician I 
Department of Administration - Information Office 

for his exceptional initiative, dedication, and conscientiousness in 
the delivery of services to the citizenry of the County. 
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Greg was joined at the front by the Commissioners, the County Administrator and 
Kim Crouch for presentation of the award, photos and congratulatory remarks. 

Mr. Banta: Congratulations on this award, of being Employee of the Month for 
October 201 7. I'm sure Ms. Crouch will have some very kind things to say about 
you. 

Ms. Crouch: I want to thank Greg for being a part of our team, he is a wonderful 
member of our team. There are times when the PC fails and people really don't 
know where to go or what to do so a lot of the teammates go to Greg because he 
seems to understand the inner workings of a PC, he understands how it thinks. 
Greg shows great initiative and does his research. On certain items we have to 
replace our firewall software and we had a meeting to discuss it and Greg came to 
the team, came to the table telling us what other agencies are doing. He's done 
his research, he told us what software packages we need to look at and for that we 
are very grateful and very happy to have you on our team. 

Mr. Angel: Yes, welcome. I have a few computer problems I'll probably talk to 
you about. 

Mr. Pepper: It says a lot, you've only been here since 2015 and you've already 
been presented Employee of the Month. It says a lot. I appreciate that; I 
appreciate what you do for the County. I'm sure Commissioner Sweeney, being 
our IT guru will have a lot more to say, I'll yield the rest of my time to him. 

Mr. Buckson: Congratulations, thank you. 

Mr. Howell: I have the highest appreciation for anybody that does what you do. I 
know that it's way out of my ballpark. When there are people like you to rely on, 
obviously a lot of people do, we're glad to have you. 

Mr. Sweeney: Greg, as an IT guy, I love it when the IT guys get the Employee of 
the Month but to have Kim describe you as the "go-to guy" and the person that 
fixes the problems that befuddle other IT people, those are terms that are only 
used for IT guys. The only thing that was missing was that you are a PC 
whisperer, which is great. We appreciate it. Congratulations on this honor and 
thanks for being here. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Thank you. We appreciate everything you do. Thank you very 
much. 

Mr. Petit de Mange: Well, Greg you're a great member of the team and I just 
want to congratulate you on behalf of your fellow employees. When I thought 
about Greg I couldn't think of anything bad to say about him except he's from 
Cape Henlopen, but other than that, you know, you're a great person and we're so 
happy to have you here on the staff. Congratulations. 
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Mr. Mansfield: This has been a good opportunity for me. I appreciate the 
opportunity that was given to me by Kim, IT as well. It's been an honor serving 
the County. I look forward to doing it for many more years. 

INTRODUCTIONS 

Allen Kujala announced two new employees scheduled for introduction this 
evening. The first introduction was by Director of Public Safety, Chief Colin 
Faulkner. The second up would be introduced by Jeremy Sheppard, Director of 
Community Services. 

Chief Faulkner: Good evening Commissioners. I'm very happy to introduce Tim 
Brown who was hired on August 14th as a Dispatcher I in our Emergency 
Communications Division. He most recently worked for Nemours A.I. Dupont 
Hospital as a Command Center Dispatcher and as a Dispatcher for the City of 
Dover. Prior to that Tim was a Motor Equipment Operator for the City of Dover 
and a driver for Heritage Concrete. He brings to us several years of dispatching 
experience. He resides in Commissioners Buckson's and Pepper's districts. Tim, 
would you like to make any comments? 

Mr. Brown: It's an honor and a privilge to be a part of the Kent County 
organization. I look forward to a life long career here. I couldn't be more happy 
and pleased to be a part of it. 

Mr. Banta: Well aboard, Tim. 

Mr. Pepper: Welcome aboard, Tim, glad to have you. We appreciate your 
experience. Just keep a positive attitude, good work ethic and represent the 
County well. Thank you. 

Mr. Buckson: Tim, I got a chance to speak to you earlier so best of luck to you. 
Somewhat neighbors down the street. Your even a little bit closer to Mr. Pepper 
than you are me but anyway none the less best of luck to you. I'm sure you'll do 
great. Thanks. 

Mr. Sheppard: Good evening Commissioners. It's my pleasure to introduce to 
you our new Recreation Supervisor Ms. Kaitlyn Schech. She most recently 
worked for Delaware State University as a Campus Events Coordinator and prior 
to that for them as a Graduate Assistant in the Fitness Membership Services. 
Kaitlyn also brings with her extensive coaching experience as a Head Coach for 
the Delaware Union Youth Soccer Association and also being a Head Varsity 
High School Soccer Coach at St. Thomas More Academy. As you know, she 
replaces Mr. Robert Probst so she's got big shoes to fill, but already she's up to 
speed on a lot of things. In fact I've already put her in charge of our newest 
special event that will be coming up for New Year's Eve, technically one day 
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before that but a new event for the recreation center. We're very excited to be 
able to have her on our staff with all of her expertise in special event management 
with the special events coming up. 

Ms. Schech: Thank you. It was nice meeting some of you earlier. I am really 
excited to be part of the team now and part of Kent County. This is back in my 
area where I enjoy being in so I'm excited to see what kind of programs we can 
get started. 

Mr. Sweeney: Kaitlyn, how are you doing? Obviously you've been to the site, 
have you started working? 

Ms. Schech: Yes. 

Mr. Sweeney: You've started working so what have you done so far? There's so 
much to be done. I just ask. Jeremy knows the directions we want to go in. I 
think you're going to handle this with your background. Love having someone 
who has such a deep understanding of soccer finally on the team; get soccer 
progams going. Welcome aboard and congratulations. 

Mr. Pepper: I'm just thrilled that you're here. I'm happy that we were able to 
attract someone with your background, your skills. Look forward to having a 
long career here, just keep a positive attitude. 

Mr. Sweeney: For the two new employees that just started, one thing 
Commissioner Banta, President Banta failed to mention during Mr. Mansfield's 
Employee of the Month, he's now in line for a check at the end of the year for 
$500.00. So he has a one in 12 chance of winning a $500.00 check at the end of 
the year. To those two employees, welcome aboard and now you know what to 
fight for. 

Mr. Banta: I didn't mention that because I wasn't sure we had the money. 

BOWERS BEACH MARITIME MUSEUM 

Ms. Judy Martin, Bowers Beach Maritime Museum Executive Director: About 
two years ago I came here before you and asked if you would give the Bowers 
Beach Maritime Museum some help renovating our museum. You graciously 
gave it. I brought some pictures at that time to show you why we needed the help. 
I have some tonight if you'd like to see them because I'm here to say thank you. 
We have finished the shell of our project. We have finished part of the old 
museum as well. We are hoping that we will be opening up the new building in 
the spring. The only thing we have to do is finish the inside of it. Our last 
activity for the year will be October 15th which is Big Thursday on Sunday for a 
5K Race. I saw that. I would like to invite you all to come to that. Or at any 
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other time I would be happy to show you around the new building that we 
together have built. I appreciate it. May I leave these pictures? 
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Mr. Banta: You certainly may. We certainly appreciate you taking the time to 
come in here and thank us. Some times we get notes, we get phone calls but to 
personally come in here and do that we sincerely appreciate that. 

Mr. Buckson: We appreciate you being here. It was our pleasure, no question, of 
the entire group here to assist Bowers' hidden gem. I think it's starting to awake, 
we know that it certainly is and I think that this museum and what your doing 
with it only adds to the footprint, that people when they go there to visit can enjoy 
and see. I think you're doing a great job. If you want to leave those pictures I'll 
pass them along. I know we have a public agenda to get to. I'll make it a point to 
get those back to you. 

Ms. Martin: No need. 

Mr. Buckson: Alright, even better. 

Ms. Martin: Thank you very much. 

Mr. Banta: Thanks again. Appreciate your time. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Sarah Keifer stated these Public Hearings are conducted for the purpose of giving 
the citizens of Kent County the opportunity to present testimony on the 
application and ordinances that are before the Levy Court. Everyone will have an 
opportunity to speak. All statements will be made from the podium at the front of 
the room. For the record, please give your name and address. Copies of any 
written statements or exhibits used during the hearing should be provided to the 
Clerk of the Peace for identification and inclusion in the record for that item. 

For each application before the Levy Court, the President will introduce the 
application; 

The Levy Court will then receive testimony from all of those in favor; 

Testimony will then be received from those who may be opposed. 

After everyone has had an opportunity to speak, the hearing on the application 
will be closed and the Levy Court will then take what action it deems appropriate. 
Levy Court's decision will be based upon public hearing testimony received at 
this meeting as well as a recommendation report submitted to the Levy Court by 
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The Regional Planning Commission. I would ask that that recommendation be 
included by reference in the permanent record of the meeting established by the 
Clerk of the Peace. 

The Public Hearing Notice of this meeting was published in the September 8, 
2017 edition ofthe Delaware State News. 

Would you like me to start with the first application? 

Mr. Banta: Unless Commissioners have any questions, you may proceed. 

PETITIONS FOR CONDITIONAL USE APPROVAL 

Mr. Sweeney: 
1. Application C-17-04; Applicant/Owner: Lakeishia Moshonda 

Booker/Christopher Bowen; Zoning District/Proposed Use: AC 
(Agricultural Conservation)/Home Daycare; Area & Location/ID #: 0.34 
+/-acres on the southeast comer of Riverside Dr. and Cypress Branch Rd. 
(Co. Rd. 363), south ofDover/NM-00-095.16-01-04.00-000 

Ms. Keifer: Thank you. The first application before the Levy Court, C-17-04 
is for a Home Occupation at Home Daycare. The site is a lot within the Riverside 
subdivision. It's at the southeast comer of Riverside Drive and Cypress Branch 
Road, inside the growth zone. The Regional Planning Commission took 
testimony at their September 7th hearing and at their September 14th Business 
Meeting voted unanimously to recommend approval, determining that the 
proposal meets all of the conditions for approval for a home occupation. I'm 
happy to answer any questions the Levy Court might have. 

Mr. Sweeney: Ms. Keifer, the home in question is owned by someone else? 

Ms. Keifer: Yes. 

Mr. Sweeney: The applicant, is that actually the resident who is a renter? 

Ms. Keifer: Yes. 

Mr. Sweeney: If this were approved and Mr. Booker, who is in the military were 
to get stationed elsewhere what would happen to the conditional use of this 
property? 

Ms. Keifer: Conditional uses stay with the property so if somebody else living 
there wanted, provided the homeowner continued to consent, if it were an 
identical application that would stay with the property. But it's not that any home 
occupation would be approved there, simply this one with these constraints. 
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Mr. Sweeney: Okay, so in that case if Mr. Booker and his family were to leave 
and Mr. Bowen who is the owner could then say we are going to let a family 
move in there but I won't allow any conditional use or home occupation. 

Ms. Keifer: It's the owner's choice. 

Mr. Sweeney: Okay, thank you. 

QUESTIONS - None 

Public Hearing is Open on Application C-17-04 

IN FAVOR 

Forest Booker, 741 Sedgewick Drive, Magnolia, DE: I am the resident at 741 
Sedgewick Drive. We're a military family and what my wife is doing, she's 
providing family childcare for military members. Currently we have two families 
that provide family childcare for the military within the Kent County area I 
believe, only two families and they're full. So there is definitely a need for it. 
We have a lot of military families that need childcare and CDC on base is 
definitely at full capacity. My wife has also been doing this for a long time. I've 
been in the military for, I'm in my 21st year now so she's been doing it for about 
18 years out of that 21 years I've been in the military. She's professional, she's 
been doing it a long time, she pretty much has all the ins and outs of how 
everything goes and we're very, very, very particular on making sure that we do a 
good job and make sure we keep the kids safe for our war fighters and that's 
pretty much the bottom line on the way we like to handle things. If there are any 
questions I can answer those questions that you have. 

Mr. Sweeney: First, Mr. Booker, thank you for your service. Twenty-one years 
is not anything to sneeze at in the United States military these days. How long 
have you been stationed in Dover. 

Mr. Booker: I've been at Dover for two years and five days. 

Mr. Sweeney: Congratulations and welcome to Dover. So, you mentioned the 
CDC? 

Mr. Booker: Yes sir, the Child Development Center. 

Mr. Sweeney: Child Development Center. They have specific requirements of 
your home in order to be part of their program? 

Mr. Booker: They do. We have to be ... Well, first we have to be licensed by the 
State because that's the jurisdiction, the State. Even then, after we're licensed by 
the State the Air Force, the Child Development Center has inspectors that come 
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out and make sure that everything's okay with the property. They do pop-up 
inspections at any time and basically come to your home and make sure every 
thing's good, they do that as well. The State also has those types of inspections as 
well. But again the jurisdiction is for the State so once the State does approve 
then we still has to go through the approval from the military as well. 

Mr. Sweeney: The State under the license that you're seeking would allow nine 
children including your own but the CDC has this stricter requirement for how 
many children you can have as part of the program? 

Mr. Booker: Yes sir, six children. That's not including our own, so that's six 
children outside of our own children. 

Mr. Sweeney: The other homes that are in Kent County that are part of this 
program do they have the same restrictions? They only allow six in the home? 

Mr. Booker: Yes, for the military requirement, the Air Force I should say, their 
home child care restraints you can only have six children. So those same 
providers they have the same rules as well. They only have six children in the 
home. The actual State allows you to have an additional amount; you can have 
nine including your own according to the State, but you're either one or the other. 
We are providing care for the military so we fall under those constraints as far as 
the amount of children. The jurisdiction still belongs to the State so approval, 
zoning, all those things still have to wind up with the State as well. 

Mr. Sweeney: At the testimony earlier this month I believe you laid out what the 
plan would be for the six children who would come to your residence in the 
morning and leave at night. Was there also some possibility that you could be 
watching children during reserve time which is, would require overnight stay? 

Mr. Booker: Yes, normally we have our reserve weekend, the reserve weekends 
don't require overnight stay unless there's a special circumstance and that's a 
different dynamic. We would have to be a part of their family child care plan so 
that's a different dynamic to what we provide. If providing that that's a separate 
dynamic as far as the child staying overnight at the home. But for the reserve 
weekend we would just provide care just the same as if we were providing care 
during the day, so it would be the same drop-off, pick-up time on the reserve 
weekends, that's what we would do if we were able to do that and that would be 
one weekend a month, just because that's the only time reserve weekend happens. 

Mr. Sweeney: Again, earlier in the month during the testimony, from some of 
your neighbors they expressed concern about traffic flow. With six children I 
wouldn't think it could be ever any more than six cars in the morning, six cars at 
night. Is that all? 

Mr. Booker: Yeah, correct. 
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Mr. Sweeney: It could be less. 

Mr. Booker: It could be less because you know sometimes ... We have been doing 
this for a long time so a lot of time we end up having a family that has like 
probably two toddlers or whatever it may be, normally more than one child. It 
definitely could be less. I would go on to say the possibility is really high that it 
would only be... It wouldn't actually be six cars probably because we would, 
definitely would get a family, a couple of toddlers probably and it would probably 
be less. Even with that we are looking at six cars, maximum. We're talking 
about.. .in our driveway, we can handle three in our driveway, three to four more 
likely and then we would have two on-street. So let's just say we have a full 
amount of people; if we get all six people at the same time we may have two cars 
on the street parking, maybe. If it actually causes a problem we can easily stagger 
pick-up times and it's not a problem because we definitely know that we don't 
want to interrupt the community; we don't want to interrupt the traffic and cause 
additional safety infractions or safety issues. So, it wouldn't be a problem if that's 
to come up, we would definitely adjust if we need to and it wouldn't be a problem 
at all. 

Mr. Sweeney: In my experience, families who are either dropping off or picking 
up have got to drop off and get going because they've got to get to work or they 
want to pick up and get horne because they've been working all day and they want 
to get horne. 

Mr. Booker: Yes sir. 

Mr. Sweeney: Okay, that's all I had. Thank you. 

Mr. Buckson: Two, and you may have already answered one. First one is, what's 
in your water? Because if you've been in the military for 21 years, maybe 10 I 
had you in at best, but congratulations. How many children do you currently have 
living in the horne right now? 

Mr. Booker: I have 5 children. I have two in high school; I have a senior in high 
school, a sophomore in high school and then I have a middle schooler and I have 
two elementary. 

Mr. Buckson: There's seven technically with five children living there. 

Mr. Booker: Yes sir. 

Mr. Buckson: All of them are school aged at this time? 

Mr. Booker: They are. 
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Mr. Pepper: All the Commissioners know that if the property that comes in for 
this does not have a fence around the yard that I consistently vote against it. I 
checked this out, it does have a fence. 

Mr. Booker: Thank you all so much. Thank you for your consideration. 

IN OPPOSITION -None 

Public Hearing is Closed on Application C-17-04 

Mr. Sweeney: I Move to approve Application C-17 -04, a Conditional Approval 
for a Family Home Daycare located inside the growth zone. The subject is zoned 
AC which allows a Family Home Daycare as permitted. It complies with our 
Comprehensive Plan. I believe that the development itself, the entrance is 
suitable to the small number of vehicles that will be traveling to and from the 
house which is right inside the entrance. It has an overly wide entrance to allow 
for additional cars which, if you look right across the street the entrance to 
entrance to Quails Landing is barely half the size as an entrance. Given the 
testimony of Mr. Booker this is a great service for our military families in Kent 
County. So my motion is to approve; seconded by Mr. Pepper. 

Roll Call: 

Mr. Angel: Yes, reasons stated by Commissioner Sweeney and no public 
opposition. 

Mr. Buckson: Just one moment to explain the purpose or reasoning behind the 
vote that I shall make today. I too expected more testimony. Fortunately I had 
read the RPC concerns. As is stated with the fence, the fence is not, the fence 
isn't always my defining factor. Typically it's a deed restriction and I ask for that 
and value the restriction of the deed. In this situation it appears that the deed has 
been written in a way that's unique to include, am I correct in stating, that the 
potential for a daycare, but avoid anything else? So that was interesting. So that 
then puts me in the game as considering what to do. Here's where I draw the 
concerns. There's great weight given to property owners. And the property 
owners listed at the RPC meeting had substantial concerns with this. The location 
of it is a great concern of mine because of the volume of traffic there and the 
condition of the fence is all concerns of mine. So while I support the venture at 
this time I am not supportive of the application. But I understand why members 
would vote in favor. Thank you. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Based on the recommendation of the RPC and the public comments 
I vote yes. 

Mr. Howell: I vote yes. 
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Mr. Pepper: Based on the recommendation of the RPC, testimony given tonight, 
property having a fence and limited amount of children being at the residence I 
vote yes. 

Mr. Sweeney: My vote is yes and I'd like to add the recommendation of Staff as 
well. 

Mr. Banta: Based on the Staff recommendation, positive vote from the Regional 
Planning Commission, no negative public comments, my vote is yes. 

Roll Call reveals six (6) yeas; one (1) nay. Application C-17-04 has been 
approved. 

Mr. Howell: 
1. Application C-17-05; Applicant/Owner: Shirley Thompson/Mark Marks; 

Zoning District/Proposed Use: AC (Agricultural Conservation)/Life 
Consultant; Area & Location/ID# 2+/- acres on the southwest comer of 
Forrest Ave. (DE Rt. 8) and Artis Dr. (Co. Rd. 197), west ofDover/ED-
00-075.02-0 1-31.00-000 

Ms. Keifer: Application C-17 -05 is another application for Home Occupation, 
this time for a Life Consultant. The site in question is two acres on the southwest 
comer of Route 8 and Artis Drive just west of Dover, outside the growth zone. 
The Regional Planning Commission took testimony on this application at their 
September 7tlt hearing and at their September 14th business meeting voted 
unanimously to recommend denial citing primarily traffic concerns and concerns 
about that intersection in particular. So again, this comes with a recommendation 
for denial. I am happy to answer any questions you might have. 

QUESTIONS- None 

Public Hearing is Open on Application C-17-05 

IN FAVOR 

Anthony Marks, 1205 Artis Drive, Dover, DE: As you can see, we just want to 
put a home business there for astrology readings, life consulting falling under the 
same category. Yes it is a traffic safety there but it is Route 8 also. It's on the 
comer so it's one of the first roads that opened up to Dover from what I 
understand, main road. If there's anything that we can do to, I know that we are 
parking at the second driveway because there's two driveways. We made it a 
back entrance office for the safety issues, that driveway right there where you see 
that trailer at. I know our neighbors was a little upset that I had other neighbors 
off of Sharon Hill Road parking up, and me also parking vehicles for sale that was 
Stops and Stensons. Everybody was upset with that, I apologized to everybody 
about the vehicles. I didn't know I was upsetting people. I just want to note 
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though that I've been in Kent County, in the City of Dover for 15 years with the 
same business. Now we're slowing down so she wants to do it out of our home. 
It's a small business not a lot of traffic and just trying to zone it for her business. 
If there's anything I can do for the neighbors, whatever to help the complaints or 
whatever is coming in because I know there was a few other complaints that ... 
One of the zoning officers called me and told me there was complaints that I was 
putting other signs out, not true. There was a lighted sign or something like that. 
Just anonymous complaints keep on coming in. That's really about it. 

Mr. Banta: I'm sure some Commissioners may have questions. Anybody have 
any questions for the applicant? Any questions for the applicant? 

IN OPPOSITION 

Joyce Sinclair, 633 Artis Drive, Dover, DE: My first comment is on some 
inconsistencies. For the first time when we met with the Planning Commission 
the applicant Ms. Shirley Thomas was not present it was just Mark Marks as he's 
listed on your agenda today. He just introduced himself as Anthony Marks so 
there's an inconsistency right there. He said it was by appointment only I have, I 
supplied several pictures last time; I have one more picture of the sign that is now 
inside the window that says "Walk-Ins Welcome." I am concerned about the 
traffic. That is a vulnerable intersection. To tell you the truth I am surprised there 
haven't been more accidents there. It seems to have gotten worse since the State 
came through a few years ago and reconfigured it. It used to be just one road in 
and out and now you've got the left turn lane. But, I'm just concerned with the 
traffic and making it a more vulnerable intersection, more dangerous. Plus we do 
have our family life-style on Artis Drive. Thank you very much. 

Mr. Buckson: Is it possible to sort of locate the proximity of your property to the 
location of the business? 

Ms. Sinclair: My property is 6/1 0 of a mile from the entrance to the road on the 
west side. It's the west side, which would be ... 

Mr. Buckson: West side heading out of town? 

Ms. Sinclair: Well, it's the west side; you've got the east side and you've got the 
east side of the road. I'm 6110 of a mile from either end. You know where the 
bad curve is? I'm just past the bad curve with the white telephone pole. That's as 
high as my kids could paint. 

Diane Hill, 668 Artis Drive, Dover, DE: I spoke at the other meeting as well. 
Basically we all have concerns about the traffic. We've seen it increase 
astronomically, especially now with the school. They come up our street to go to 
the school from all these subdivisions and the surrounding areas. Plus, the type of 
business is not conducive to a neighborhood setting. We may be only one road 
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but we are a neighborhood, we look out for each other. You'll see we have the 
petition with 51 people signed that they don't want any more business. We have 
the horse farm and they have the constant trailers coming in and out. You have 
the Par 3 Golf Course, and that gets a lot of business as well as at the other end of 
our street is Haas Meat Market, so we have lots of traffic coming up and down 
Artis Drive and we hope to curtail it that there is no more home businesses on 
Artis Drive. As you can see from that, I know that they spoke and said that they 
would be using the back entrance well they have to either back into it off of Artis 
Drive when they arrive or back out onto Artis Drive when they leave. And it's 
within approximately 20 foot of the turn, so as soon as someone turns they're right 
there at that driveway, front or back. And it just is a very, very bad intersection. 
People come off of Route 8, I know they have no control of that but they're doing 
50 miles an hour. Somebody's going to get hurt. I just hope the accident that is 
caused I'm not on the road when it happens. We hope that you'll consider that in 
your decision this evening. Also I know as you see there're signs, and the signs 
were taken off the front of the house but now they're all inside the windows, even 
a neon "Open" sign that's on all the time. Not all the time, eventually, I'm not out 
late at night but I've been out till 8 o'clock and it's on then so I don't know what 
time the sign goes off and I can't tell what time it goes on in the morning because 
I have to leave for work rather early. But it's just a lot of interaction right there. 
You look and there's things everywhere. So it's very distracting as well. 

Mr. Buckson: Thank you for coming out tonight. Just a couple of questions 
regarding the application. Your position is no business anywhere along that route 
would be acceptable, not just the, I guess we'll call it the spiritual life coaching 
business? 

Ms. Hill: Right, any business on that section right there at that intersection. 

Mr. Buckson: Are you located within that view? 

Ms. Hill: I'm actually across the street from Joyce Sinclair. I'm on the east side. 

Mr. Buckson: If there was a way to structure it so that there was not walk-ins and 
it was strictly appointment only and that appointment said it was limited would 
that be reasonable? 

Ms. Hill: To me, any traffic coming in and out of there ... I was following Mr. 
Marks the one day and with no turn signal he decided to turn into his driveway so 
you know it's just a bad section right there. I would think no business at all. 

Mr. Buckson: Ms. Keifer, the signage, if by chance they were approved tonight, 
signage is regulated, correct? There's a strict regulation, it's one sign I assume, 
something along those lines, correct? 
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Ms. Keifer: Home Occupations allow for one sign, six square feet in area, no 
higher than five feet above grade. The Planning Commission had considered 
perhaps adding a condition of approval that there be no additional signage 
including affixed to the building or to the windows, to prohibit that altogether. So 
that would be an option as well, to only allow the six square foot. 

Ms. Hill: Is there any restriction to where that sign can be placed? Because if it's 
placed on one side, it's going to restrict the people coming up the road from 
seeing the people that are turning on ... If you've been down that road and you 
make your turn there unfortunately you basically do have to go a little into the 
other lane unless you pull really sharp because the road has no shoulder. So if the 
sign is on the east side on Artis you're blocking the view of the people turning 
onto Artis and the people who then are going to be going into that left turn lane. 
If they put it out on Route 8, once again that side, towards Route 8, yeah, Route 8 
you're going to still be blocking at least the people making the turn in, coming 
from the west side only. And that would be, I understand it's not that big, a six 
square foot but still depending on its height people are not going to be able to see. 
At least people like me. 

PUBLIC HEARING IS CLOSED ON APPLICATION C-17-05 

Mr. Howell: This is one of the situations where I am more intimately aware of 
with the details because I travel that route virtually every day. For the longest 
time I've considered it to be dangerous just because of a number of things. For 
one, Artis Road is diagonal. That makes an awkward turning situation. You 
notice too that it curves slightly so it cuts down on the visibility which does not 
help matters any. And then on top of all of that right across from there is Sharon 
Hill Road and the people are constantly inching out trying to get out on Route 8. 
It's just not safe at all so I can't in good conscience encourage any kind of 
increased activity in that particular area. Consequently Mr. President, I Move 
that we deny C-17-05; seconded by Mr. Pepper. 

Roll Call: 

Mr. Angel: Based on the Regional Committee and safety issues I'll say no; to 
deny it. 

Mr. Buckson: As I stated prior to that, I think property owners have a right to 
weigh in although somes uniquely situated in a position where there's not a lot of, 
it's not a residential development, I understand that. It is in an area that's 
concerning traffic-wise. I do believe that it's a place that if we could regulate the 
amount of traffic through appointment only I would be supportive of it because I 
do think, on a very limited basis that they could fulfill their role. Unfortunately 
given the testimony of a sign in the window that indicated "Walk-Ins Welcome," 
it's not a good start. Which means I can't regulate that so if the intention is to 
have walk-ins I can't regulate that and I would be concerned if somehow we had 
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an increase in traffic due to that. So for those reasons, due to testimony my vote 
1s no. 

Mr. W. Pepper: Mr. Buckson, the Motion is to deny. 

Mr. Buckson: No, which means I am sorry, yes, yes to deny. Good job. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Based on the public comments and the recommendation of the 
Regional Planning Commission I vote in favor of the denial. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, for reasons I've stated and others I vote yes to deny it. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, based on the recommendation ofRegional Planning 
Commission and like Commissioner Howell, for 11 years I've passed by that 
property every day at least twice and the Route 8 side is at best scary because of 
the entrances and driveways and the curvature of the road. Artis Drive, the house 
sits right on the point there so if someone should inadvertently park in the 
driveway, wrong driveway then they are right in traffic so the hazard plus the 
overwhelming petition signed by the neighbors against this I vote yes in favor of 
the motion. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, for all reasons stated. 

Mr. Banta: Based on the recommendation of the Regional Planning Commission 
for a negative vote as well as the public comments and the 51 signature petition I 
vote yes to the motion. 

Roll Call reveals seven (7) yeas. Application C-17-05 has been denied. 

PETITION FOR CONDITIONAL USE REQUIRING SITE PLAN 
APPROVAL 

Mr. Banta: 
1. Application CS-17-07/Mast Harness Shop; Applicant & Owner: 
WilliamS. and Malinda Miller; Zoning District/Proposed Use: AC (Agricultural 
Conservation)/Tack Shop/Harness Shop; Areas & Location/ID#: 10.5 ±_acres 
(project site area: site area: 1.88±._ acres) located on the northeast side of Shaws 
Comer Rd. (Co. Rd. 166), approx. 3,557' south of Sudlersville Rd. (DE Rt. 300), 
south ofKenton/KH-00-044.00-02-11.00-000 

Ms. Keifer: Application CS-17-07 is a Conditional Use Site Plan for a Tack Shop 
and Harness Shop. The site is 10 Yz acres on the northeast side of Shaws Comer 
Road, south of Sudlersville Road, south of Kenton, outside the growth zone. The 
site is zoned AC/ Agricultural Conservation. The Planning Commission took 
testimony at their September 7th hearing and at their September 14th business 
meeting voted unanimously to recommend approval having determined that the 
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proposal meets all relevant conditions of approval. I'm happy to answer any 
questions the Levy Court may have. 

QUESTION - None 

Public Hearing is Open on Application CS-17-07 

Greg Scott, Scott Engineering, 22 Old Rudnick Ln., Suite 2, Dover, DE: I'm 
here tonight to represent the applicants William and Malinda Miller who are also 
co-owners in the business, Mast's Harness Shop, which is presently located on 
Seeneytown Road. They had entered into a contract to purchase that property and 
the improvements on there and the contract was withdrawn by the current owner 
of the property so that they're leasing it right now, but they're in a position right 
now that they can't reach terms of agreement of a future lease going forward so 
they desire to relocate the business around the comer to the Seeneytown, ah, 
Shaws Comer Road. So, it'll be basically identical buildings, identical business. 
It'll do a great justice in serving the community out there, the products and the 
business that they have. I'm happy to answer any questions and if need be the 
Millers will be happy to come down and answer if necessary but they've kind of 
asked that that I represent them and speak on their behalf. 

Mr. Banta: Greg, it's my District so the one question I would have for you is that 
there are a number of conditions that were placed on the application. Have they 
agreed with those conditions? 

Mr. Scott: Yes they have. 

Mr. Banta: Thank you. 

IN OPPOSITION 

Public Hearing is Closed on Application CS-17-07 

Motion was made by Commissioner Banta to approve CS-17 -07 based on the 
Regional Planning Commission Public Hearing as well as Staff and the fact that 
they have agreed on all the conditions for approval; seconded Mr. Sweeney. 

Roll Call: 

Mr. Angel: Yes, reasons stated and conditional approval from the Staff. 

Mr. Banta: Yes. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes for reasons stated, positive public testimony, Staff approval. 
Thanks. 
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Mr. Hosfelt: Based on the conditional approvals of both Staff and the RPC I vote 
to approve. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, I'm in favor of it in view ofthe comments and explanations 
that were made. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, for all reasons stated. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, all reasons stated plus it doesn't change the character of the 
neighborhood, there are no safety issues and as stated, Regional Planning 
Commission unanimously voted in favor of it. Yes. 

Roll Call reveals seven (7) yeas. Application C-17-07 has been approved. 

PETITION TO AMEND COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP AND ZONING 
MAP 

Mr. Howell: 
1. Ordinance LC17-16, An Ordinance to amend the Comprehensive Plan 

Map Designation and the Official Zoning Map of Kent County, Delaware 
pursuant to the provisions of Kent County Code, Vol. II, Chapter 205 
Zoning, Article III, Section 205-8 and Section 205-9, and Article XXVIII 
(changes and amendments) effective December 01, 2000, as amended 
(reference Application No. CZ-17-1 0) (Ref: Application #/Ordinance#: 
CZ-17-10 I LC17-16; Applicants & Owners: Paul R. Callaway, 
Trustee and Jonathan C. Callaway; Proposed Zoning: BG (General 
Business); Location I ID#: 2.5+ acres on the west side ofS. DuPont Hwy. 
(US Rt. 13) and on the east side ofRaughley Hill Rd. (Co. Rd. 405), 
approx. 305' south of Hopkins Cemetery Rd. (Co. Rd. 289), north of 
Harrington I MN-00-160.00-01-14.03-000) 

Ms. Keifer: Ordinance LC17-16 is an application to amend both the zoning map 
and the future land use map of the Comprehensive Plan. The site is currently 
zoned AC/ Agricultural Conservation and is designated for low density residential. 
The proposal is to rezone to BG/General Business and change the land use 
designation to Highway Commercial. The site is 2 Y:z acres on the west side of 13, 
south of Hopkins Cemetery Road just north of Harrington. It is indeed inside the 
growth zone. The Regional Planning Commission took testimony at their 
September 7th hearing and at their September 14th business meeting voting 
unanimously to recommend approval based on the fact that the proposal is in 
keeping with the character of the surrounding area and the proposal comports with 
the recommendations of the Comprehensive Plan. So again this comes with a 
recommendation for approval. I'm happy to answer any questions you might 
have. 
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QUESTIONS -None 

Public Hearing is Open on Ordinance LC17-16 

IN FAVOR- None 

IN OPPOSITION- None 

Public Hearing is Closed On Ordinance LC17-16 

A Motion to approve Ordinance LC 17-16, an Ordinance to amend the 
Comprehensive Plan Map Designation and the Official Zoning Map of Kent 
County; seconded by Mr. Pepper. 

Roll Call: 

Mr. Angel: Yes, reasons stated, approval ofthe RPC and no opposition. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, reasons stated and it is in character with the rest of the 
surrounding area there. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, for all reasons stated. 

Mr. Banta: With the positive vote from Regional Planning Commission, Staffs 
in favor and no opposition, I vote yes. 

Roll Call reveals seven (7) yeas. Ordinance LC 17-16 has been approved. 

STORMWATER MAINTENANCE DISTRICT EXTENSION PROPOSALS- Laureltown 

Mr. Buckson: 
1. Resolution 3655, A Resolution to Extend the Kent County Stormwater 

Maintenance District Pursuant to Chapter 52, Title 9 of the Delaware Code 
and Section 90.4.E (10), Chapter 187 of the Kent County Code- SWM-
16-04-Laureltowne 

Ms. Keifer: Resolution 3655 is a resolution adding the Laureltowne Subdivision 
to the County Stormwater Maintenance District. The majority of the lot owners, 
you'll see 58% signed the petition in the affirmative. Our Staff has confirmed 
those signatures. The operations and maintenance plan has been finalized. It 
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should be noted that the fee adopted in the 2018 Budget is $28.00 per unit per 
year. This District, because the subdivision is still under construction, they will 
not, the District will not take responsibility for maintenance and the subdivision 
will not be billed until the subdivision is complete and the infrastructure signed 
off on by KCD. So they will be part of the District but they won't be billed and 
we won't take responsibility until the projects complete. Because this meets all of 
the conditions for joining the Districts, Staff certainly recommends approval. I'm 
happy to answer any questions you might have. 

QUESTIONS- None 

Public Hearing is Open on Resolution 3655 

IN FAVOR 

Samuel Wilson, 442 Phillips Drive, Magnolia, DE: I didn't intend on making a 
comment, me and a few of my neighbors just came down to observe. But we are 
all in favor of the project. We feel as though that it will be beneficiary to the 
community, residential members. So, we are all in favor. We like what it 
provides for the community, as far as the Stormwater Maintenance. 

Mr. Banta: We appreciate you coming down and taking a position. 

Malcolm Thompson, 76 Records Drive, Magnolia, DE: I'm the Lauraltowne 
Homeowners Association Board President. The community understands that 
enrollment in the Stormwater Management Program is going to protect the 
community from the potential costly expenses in the future. So we have full 
support of the community and they understand that the $28.00 annual fee, they 
understand that that won't of course start until we're officially enrolled but 
after they do understand that there is a fee per home and we have their full 
support. 

Mr. Banta: So Malcolm, you are the President of the HOA? 

Mr. Thompson: Yes. 

Mr. Banta: Okay. We appreciate you coming down. Thank you. 

Mr. Thompson: Thanks for having me. 

IN OPPOSITION- None 

Public Hearing is Closed on Resolution 3655 

Mr. Buckson Moved to approve Resolution 3655 creating the Laureltowne 
Stormwater Maintenance District, finding that the proposed Stormwater 
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Maintenance District meets all terms and conditions required, the 
testimony indicates the residents within Laureltowne weighed in and are 
supportive of this move and it is in the best interest to continue with this program 
to the positive outlook of the County; seconded by Mr. Angel. 

Roll Call: 

Mr. Angel: Yes, reasons stated from the residents, the RPC approval, Staff 
approval, recommendation, yes. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, for reasons stated. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Yes because ofthe reasons stated. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, reasons stated and it's a good investment for the homeowners to 
protect them in the future. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, for reasons stated. 

Mr. Banta: For the reasons so eloquently stated by both Mr. Pepper and Mr. 
Buckson I vote yes. 

Roll Call reveals seven (7) yeas. Resolution 3655 has been approved. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS CLOSED 

Old Business- None 

New Business -None 

Other Business 

Mr. Pepper: I Move to go into Executive Session immediately following the 
Committee Meetings on Tuesday, October 3, 2017 for preliminary discussion on 
site acquisition for a publicly funded capital improvement; legal strategy session 
regarding collective bargaining or pending or potential litigation; and personnel 
matters pursuant to 29 Del. C. 1 0004(b) (2), ( 4 ), and (9); seconded by 
Mr. Sweeney; carried by roll call vote seven (7) yeas. 

Informational Items 

Mr. Banta: On Wednesday Commissioner Hosfelt and myself and Mr. Pepper 
attended the Plan Management Meeting. On Thursday Mr. Hosfelt, Mr. Howell, 
Mr. Sweeney, Mr. Banta, Mr. Pepper attended the Distinguished Citizens Award 
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on behalf of the Boy Scouts of America. On Friday, Senator Coons stopped by 
and Mr. Pepper, Mr. Hosfelt, Mr. Banta, Mr. Sweeney, Mr. Petit de Mange had 
the opportunity to spend some time with him. On Saturday night I had the honor 
ofbeing in attendance with around 500 people at Dover Downs in honor of the 
115th anniversary of the IEWs. So it's been a sort of busy nights and days in the 
last week. 

Mr. Angel: Also, I was able to attend the Dustoff for the Huey Pilots for the 
Vietnam Veterans that were sponsored here. It was the first time they've ever 
been asked to a State area. To hobnob with those brave heroes was an honor. I 
will say that the stories they told were unbelievable, priceless for those who 
served during that timeframe. To meet the actual pilots and crewman, the nurses 
that saved the lives when they went in, and that was their whole object, was to 
save lives. That was on the dinner, then on Saturday I also attended the Memorial 
Service here and we had three tents up and it was completed packed all the way to 
the building. It was amazing to see that many people come out. Thank you. 

Mr. Banta: Thank you, Mr. Angel for your time in going to this affair. 

Mr. Pepper: Last evening Commissioner Buckson, Commissioner Sweeney, 
Commissioner Howell, Mike Petit de Mange and myself attended the Farm 
Bureau annual dinner meeting in Felton and we honored Mr. George Dunning as 
the person who contributed to farming for the year, recognized him 
posthumously I might add. Also, this past Saturday Commissioner Buckson ran 
the 5K race in Magnolia in celebration of the 90th anniversary of the Magnolia 
Volunteer Fire Company. I attended and read a tribute to the Fire Company prior 
to the parade starting and was in the parade where I handed out cold Dr. Peppers 
to those that were watching the parade. So, it was a great day in Magnolia. A lot 
of you may not be aware that Magnolia has located and purchased their original 
fire truck, I believe it's a 1928 Ford, I believe it is. They are restoring it in-house. 
So any proceeds they made from the run or anything like that go to restore that 
fire truck. I might add that, Mr. Sweeney being on top of things like he normally 
is attended the parade on Sunday however he was the only one there to watch the 
parade and the only_ one there to be in the parade. So, I'd like to thank 
Mr. Sweeney for that. 

Mr. Sweeney: Thank you Mr. Pepper, I have pictures to prove it. I would also 
like to extend a happy birthday to Commissioner Jim Hosfelt on his 39th birthday. 
It was yesterday, happy birthday. 

Mr. Banta: I think we should sing to him. Let's do that. 

All joined in singing Happy Birthday to Commissioner Hosfelt. 

Mr. Buckson: Given our dashboard on what we did, I did homework with my 9 
year old last week, had practice with my 11 year old, had a long conversation with 
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my 17 year old about how much time he's spending with that girl again and 
helped my college now freshman oldest daughter with social studies, which I did 
a good job but when it came to math I failed miserably, so. Oh, I had date night 
with my wife Saturday. You guys want to know about it? No? 

Mr. Sweeney: Just so you know the reason I missed the parade on Saturday, the 
reason is because I was kayaking on the St. Jones River in Kent County, seven 
miles. 

Mr. Banta: You get a purple ribbon for that. 

Mr. Hosfelt: I just remembered, race weekend this weekend at Dover 
International Speedway. I'd love to see everybody come up. There will be some 
minor traffic delays I'm sure. We have small parade on Thursday with the 
haulers, the NASCAR Haulers through downtown Dover. So, come up and enjoy. 

Mr. Banta: If we run into a traffic concern on 13, south bound, getting ready to 
enter the complex, if we call you can you handle that? 

Mr. Hosfelt: I will forward your concerns to Chief Marvin Mailey, yes. 

Mr. Banta: Thank you sir. 

Public Comments 

Mark Marks: What is my next ... for going forward, to make it ... the next 
meeting? Is there something, because they did say that, urnm, if it's by 
appointment only, do I have to re-do a fee again to go through the next thing 
again? 

Shirley Thompson: Well, what we want to add is ... I can't, it's not on the screen 
anymore, but we could put a driveway in the back of the property. There's two ... 

Mr. Marks: Two and half acres. 

Ms. Thompson: I could put a driveway and I could also put, take out the sign ... 
There's still signs being made to not have walk-ins welcome and I could do 
appointment only if you all would consider that. Or would I have to go fully 
commercial in order to have it approved? 

Mr. Banta: There would be a timeframe in regard to doing that but before that I 
would recommend that you speak either with the Director of Planning Services or 
someone in the Planning Department to see if their comfort level is raised in that 
regard and then they in turn can schedule probably another hearing if that's 
advisable. 
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Mr. Marks: Yes, I appreciate it. The 668, is that within 200 foot of the property? 
That address. That was spoken tonight. That objected to the listing. Because it 
was only within 200 foot of the property line. 

Ms. Thompson: That they were supposed to object to it. 

Mr. Buckson: What you're referencing, ifl may, obviously there's a rule, a 
requirement by the County that we notice, or that you actually notify anybody 
200 feet. That does not mean that others in the surrounding area cannot come in 
and testify. They just did not receive an official document. If you are lost in how 
to proceed to the next step, and I know you've taken a lot in, if there is a next step 
for you, I'm sure, who's the Commissioner for you? Commissioner Howell? Or 
as the Planning Director you can certainly reach out to me and I can explain to 
you how the procedure or process works. Clearly there's no guarantees. I mean 
you could take the necessary steps and you could still meet the same fate ... 

Mr. Marks: Mr. Buckson, I appreciate that. 

Mr. Buckson: But certainly if you if you want to access the system again there's a 
path moving forward that you could do it. 

Mr. Marks: I appreciate it Mr. Buckson and one more thing and I'll leave you 
guys ... I'll bid you guys a good-night. On commercial ruling, is there any size of 
signage on commercial? Is there, uh, specifics for doing commercial ifljust want 
to go commercial? 

Mr. Buckson: So again I would suggest that through the conversation with the 
Planning Director, but more specific than that, I don't know, Mike you might be 
able to weigh in but I think you probably want to have those technical answers in 
front of you if you proceed forward rather than just than have it tonight. It's pretty 
restrictive because it's a Home Occupation it's very restrictive. 

Mr. Marks: The commercial. My question, yeah, it's on Route 8 and it's on the 
comer of Artis Drive so I'm just going to probably zone it for commercial. 

Ms. Thompson: That's what I was asking. I'm sorry, go ahead. 

Mr. Buckson: If you're going to have that type of a conversation you're pretty 
probably better, sir to do it in a formal situation with one of the Staff members. 

Ms. Thompson: That's why I was asking, like if we put a driveway in the back 
before we go commercial would you all consider that? 

Mr. Marks: What she was asking ... 
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Mr. Banta: We can't have this back and forth. The hearing is now closed. The 
important thing for you to do now is go to Planning Service Department, go over 
with them the issues that you both have and then see what kind of resolution you 
can get. At that time they'll determine whether or not you can come back for 
another Public Hearing. Okay? 

Mr. Marks: Appreciate it, Mr. President. 

Mr. Banta: Thank you very much. 

Mr. Marks: Thank you very much. Have a good evening everyone. 

Ms. Hill: Okay, do I need to swear in again or anything? 

Mr. Banta: Depends on what exactly you ... 

Ms. Hill: I just want to say given that it was denied tonight do they have to stop 
the business? At this point? Because they're still operating it. 

Mr. Banta: Mr. Pepper? I would think so? Yes. 

Ms. Hill: Yes? Alright. Thank you. 

Commissioner Comments - None 

Motion to Adjourn was made by Mr. Pepper; seconded by Mr. Sweeney; carried 
by roll call vote seven (7) yeas. 8:23 p.m. 

Trish Brown 
Kent County Deputy Clerk of the Peace 


